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FOREWORD

The National Gallery’s collection of seventeenth-
and eighteenth-century Italian paintings contains a
number of important works by the painters of the
baroque and its aftermath, notably Annibale and
Lodovico Carracci, Orazio Gentileschi, Jusepe de
Ribera, Giovanni Battista Tiepolo, Canaletto, and
Bellotto. Although in America in the first half of this
century Italian baroque art was not held generally in
the same regard as Renaissance art, the National
Gallery has from its inception been one of the coun-
try’s major repositories of later Italian painting. The
presence of so many fine examples in Washington is
due greatly to the generosity of Samuel H. Kress,
who sought to create at the National Gallery “as
complete a representation as possible of the Italian
School of painting and sculpture.”

The Samuel H. Kress Foundation has for more than
a half-century played an integral role in the acquisi-
tion, care, and interpretation of our Italian paintings.
Stephen Pichetto, William Suida, Mario Modestini,
Guy Emerson, and Rush Kress were particularly
involved in the creation of this collection of later
Iralian paintings; Fern Rusk Shapley catalogued it;
andthe Foundation, underthe dedicatedleadership of
Franklin P. Murphy, sponsoredresearch, publications,
and exhibitions that stimulated appreciation of it.

This volume is the ninth published in the series of
systematic catalogues of the National Gallery’s col-

lections and the first devoted exclusively to our great
collection of Italian paintings. Information on the
later Italian paintings was previously available only
in Mrs. Shapley’s catalogues of the Italian paintings
in the Kress Collection and in the National Gallery.
Since their publication in the 1970s, there hasbeen an
explosion of scholarship in the field of later Italian
painting, with the result that we can grasp much
more securely the authorship, dating, and meaning
of these pictures. Equally significant in the prepara-
tion of this study were the sophisticated technical in-
vestigations conducted in the Gallery’s conservation
and scientific research laboratories, enabling us to
understand more fully than before the methods and
techniques of their creators.

In recent years many of our most significant lat-
er Italian paintings have been conserved with splen-
did results, notably works by Panini, Canaletto, and
Tiepolo, and a number have been rehung in appro-
priate frames of the period. Together with impor-
tant recent additions to the collection, such as the
great paintings by Jusepe de Ribera, The Martyrdom
of Saint Bartholomew, and Bernardo Bellotto, The
Fortress of Konigstein, the presentation of later Italian
painting at the National Gallery has never been
more successful. This catalogue complements our
other efforts to foster greater understanding and ap-
preciation of this area of our collections.

Earl A. Powell ITI
Director
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INTRODUCTION

The National Gallery’s collection of Italian baroque
paintings of the seventeenth and eighteenth cen-
turies exists largely as the result of the enthusiasm
for Italian art on the part of Samuel H.Kress (1863
1955), and his younger brother, Rush (1877-1963).
One may easily forget the prejudice prevailing in
America against the art of the Catholic Counter-Re-
formation, which was not overcome until the 1950s
and 1960s. Kress was alone among the early twenti-
eth-century American collectors—Frick, Morgan,
Mellon, Widener—to recognize the importance of
Iralian seventeenth- and eighteenth-century pic-
tures. When Kress, a businessman who turned to art
collecting late in life, acquired Tanzio da Varallo’s
extraordinary Saint Sebastian in 1935, he really was a
pioneer in an area of collecting that was still largely
unfamiliar in this country. The collection he creat-
ed—ranging from Cimabue to Tiepolo—is filled
with the kind of Italian painting ignored by other
collectors of his day.

Through the Italian art dealer Alessandro Conti-
ni-Bonacossi (1878-1955), Kress acquired his first
painting in 1927. His earliest purchases were almost
all Iralian Renaissance works from the thirteenth to
the sixteenth century, but among them was The In-
terior of the Pantheon by Giovanni Paolo Panini, and
within a few years he had acquired a group of eigh-
teenth-century Venetian paintings that was to form
the basis of the National Gallery’s collection of later
Italian paintings. These included a pair of conversa-
tion pieces by Pietro Longhi, The Faint and A Game of
Pentola; oil sketches by Sebastiano Ricci, A Miracle of
Saint Francis of Paola and The Finding of the True Cross;
Campo San Zanipolo by Francesco Guardi; a pair of
fanciful female heads by Pietro Rotari; and a lumi-
nous oil sketch by Giovanni Battista Tiepolo.

In the 19305 most of these Venetian paintings
hung in the dining room in Samuel Kress’ apartment
at 1020 Fifth Avenue, New York, but as his collection
of Italian art continued to grow, Kress began to con-
sider the possibilities of sharing it with a wider audi-
ence. In 1938 he decided to donate his collection to
the National Gallery of Art, and when it opened in
1941, 375 paintings and 18 sculptures from his gift
were installed in the West Building. The Italian

baroque was well represented in the galleries by
Kress’ Venetian pictures, the touchstone of which
was Giovanni Battista Tiepolo’s brilliant oil sketch
for the ceiling fresco (Wealth and Benefits of the Span-
ish Monarchy under Charles III) in the throne room in
the Royal Palace, Madrid.

Kress was assisted in his efforts by Stephen S.
Pichetto (1888-1949), one of the most prominent
American restorers of his generation, who from
1928 served as Kress’ principal restorer. In 1947 he
was appointed curator of the Samuel H. Kress Col-
lection at the National Gallery. Pichetto oversaw the
expansion of the Kress Collection in the 1940s when
Kress, then in his eighties, became ill. After 1946,
when Kress was completely bedridden, responsibili-
ty for the collection passed to Rush, who played a sig-
nificant role in its continued development.

Rush Kress transformed the collection in quality,
focus, and scope, broadening the acquisitions to in-
clude French, Flemish, Spanish, Dutch, and Ger-
man art as well as Iralian paintings. He was partic-
ularly fond of baroque paintings, which he called
“bucolic pictures,” and under his leadership the
Kress Foundation acquired many of its finest later
Italian paintings.

In 1947 William E. Suida (1877-1959) was appoint-
ed as the Kress Foundation’s librarian and research
curator. An authority on Leonardo da Vinci, Titian,
Raphael, Giorgione, and other Renaissance masters,
the distinguished Austrian scholar and connoisseur
also loved Italian painting of the baroque, and he
greatly influenced the future growth and develop-
ment of the Kress Collection at the National Gallery.
His aim was. to create “the most comprehensive and
complete demonstration of Italian art, from 1200 to
1800, existing in the world.”

Suida envisioned adding two or three additional
galleries of Kress Italian baroque paintings at the
National Gallery, and his enthusiasm for works of
the period was supported by Mario Modestini (b.
1907), the gifted Italian restorer and connoisseur
who joined the staff of the Kress Foundation in 1951,
two years after the death of Pichetto. Baroque
paintings were out of vogue in 19505 America, and
were thus cheap and plentiful. One of the Gallery’s
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finest baroque pictures, for example, Lodovico Car-
racci’s The Dream of Saint Catherine of Alexandria, ac-
quired from Contini in 1950, brought only £52 10s
($210) at the earl of Ellesmere sale at Christie’s,
London, in 1946.

At the instance of Suida and Modestini, the Kress
Foundation acquired dozens of Italian baroque
paintings in the early 1950s, representing the work
of many of the major figures of the Italian Seicento
and Settecento. That only about forty of these works
entered the Gallery’s collections provides a fascinat-
ing glimpse into the vicissitudes of taste for the old
masters. From the moment of Samuel Kress’ initial
gift to the National Gallery in 1939, the Kress Foun-
dation endorsed the principle of exchanges to im-
prove the quality of the collections on view in Wash-
ington. From the inauguration of the Kress galleries
in 1941 until the final distribution of the collection to
museums across the United States in 1961, paintings
had been delivered to Washington, exhibited at the
National Gallery, and either retained for its collec-
tions or returned for dispersal to one of the region-
al galleries.

John Walker (1906-1995), as chief curator from
1938 to 1956 and director from 1956 to 1969, was the
final arbiter in the selection of the Kress paintings for
the National Gallery. A disciple of Bernard Beren-
son, Walker was not an enthusiast of the baroque,
and greatly preferred earlier Italian painting. His
views frequently reflect Berenson’s position in Ital-
ian Painters of the Renaissance, which concluded with
a chapter on painting of the seventeenth and eigh-
teenth centuries entitled “The Decline of Art.” Many
of the later Italian pictures acquired by Suida and his
colleagues for the collection were exhibited for years
in the Kress galleries in Washington, but in the end
were returned to the Kress Foundation, often in ex-
change for Renaissance paintings.

The Italian baroque paintings eventually selected
for the Kress Collection at the National Gallery re-
veal a definite preference for bright, decorative, non-
religious pictures, especially Venetian, epitomized
by Giovanni Battista Tiepolo’s Apollo Pursuing
Daphne. Landscapes, views, genre paintings, por-
traits, still lifes, and allegorical and mythological
subjects predominate in the Kress Collection at the
expense of the violent martyrdoms (excepting the
Tanzio) and esoteric literary themes often found in
Italian baroque painting. Among these are some of
the most important baroque paintings in America: a
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Caravaggesque still life of great historical signific-
ance, now ascribed to the so-called Pensionante del
Saraceni; the only landscape by Annibale Carracci in
the United States; the Lodovico Dream of Saint
Catherine; a powerful history painting by Giuseppe
Maria Crespi, Tarquin and Lucretia; one of the finest
of the “Monuments” to the British worthies com-
missioned in the 1720s from Marco and Sebastiano
Ricci by the eccentric Irish impresario, Owen Mc-
Swiny; and distinguished works by Guercino, Ber-
nardo Strozzi, Domenico Fetti, Donato Creti, Seba-
stiano Ricci, Magnasco, and Giambattista Tiepolo.
The Kress Collection also includes several fine view
paintings by the Venetians Canaletto, Bellotto, and
Guardi.

Gifts and bequests other than Kress have enriched
our collection of later Italian paintings, notably in
the area of Venetian view painting, beginning with
Peter A. B. Widener’s view of SS. Giovanni and Pao-
lo, Venice, for years thought to be by Canaletto and
now recognized as an early work by Bernardo Bel-
lotto, and Francesco Guardi’s Grand Canal with the
Rialto Bridge, Venice, in 1942. Barbara Hutton, the
Woolworth heiress, donated two important, signed
views of Venice by Canaletto, formerly at Castle
Howard, Yorkshire, in 1945. Howard Sturgis in 1956
presented the Gallery with a deftly painted little oil
sketch by Tiepolo depicting Saint Roch Carried to
Heaven. And in 1964 Paul Mellon rounded off this
sequence of Venetian pictures with a pair of imagi-
nary landscapes in beautiful condition painted by
Canaletto in England shortly before his return to
Venice in 1755.

Purchases of later Italian paintings by the Nation-
al Gallery have been rare until relatively recently; the
most notable is Orazio Gentileschi’s Lute Player, a
painting that has been called his masterpiece, which
was acquired from the Liechtenstein Collection in
1962. Shortly thereafter, the Gallery bought, also
with the Ailsa Mellon Bruce Fund, a pair of lyrical
and poetic pictures from the Guardi circle illustrat-
ing episodes from Torquato Tasso’s Gerusalemme Lib-
erata, and in 1968 a fine version of one of Panini’s
most popular compositions, the Interior of Saint
Peter’s, Rome. In the past decade a concerted effort has
been made to fill the lacunae in the collection. Two
paintings by Guercino and one by the Cavaliere
d’Arpino were purchased in the mid-1980s. The
Gallery’s first work from the school of Naples—a
major painting by Jusepe de Ribera, The Martyrdom



of Saint Bartholomew—was purchased in 1990 through
the generosity of the soth Anniversary Gift Commit-
tee. (A second, Diana and Endymion by Luca Gior-
dano, was given by Joseph McCrindle, also in honor
of the soth Anniversary.) The Gallery’s commitment
to strengthening its later Italian collections was
affirmed in 1993 with the purchase of Bellotto’s
Fortress of Konigstein, a painting of sublime concep-
tion and technical execution. Commissioned for Au-
gustus II], king of Poland and elector of Saxony, the
artist’s most important patron in the first half of his
career, and unique in this country for having been
created for the royal collections in Dresden, the
painting brings full circle the Gallery’s group of
views by Venetian painters initiated by the Widener
gift of the early Bellotto painting fifty years earlier.

Currently, the baroque collection consists of five
Genoese paintings, ten Bolognese, and more than
twenty by Venetian artists, but none from Florence
and only one from Lombardy. Several Roman Car-
avaggesque paintings are included, but none from
the high baroque in Rome. We see the future as a
further effort to add to the strength of the collection
while continuing to search for masterpieces by
artists, regions, and subjects not yet represented.
The later Italian works in the Kress Collection were
catalogued in 1973 by Fern Rusk Shapley (1890-
1984), longtime curator of paintings at the Gallery,
and again in 1979 in her publication of the entire col-
lection of the Gallery’s Italian paintings. The present
catalogue includes these works as well as those ac-
quired subsequently. Several paintings catalogued by
Shapley carry different attributions here, and others,

catalogued by her as Italian, will be included in
forthcoming volumes of other schools in the
Gallery’s systematic catalogue. These changes are
listed at the end of the present volume. Among the
several changes of attribution recorded here is the
discovery that the Saint Cecilia and an Angel, former-
ly attributed to Orazio Gentileschi, was begun by
Gentileschi and completed by Giovanni Lanfranco.
Several of the view paintings given to Francesco
Guardi are now thought to have originated in his
workshop or to be the work of followers, but the
nine paintings by Giambattista Tiepolo (there are
more works by him than by any other artist in the
later Italian paintings collection) have withstood the
challenge of scholarly investigation and are here
published as autograph works by the master. Nu-
merous changes in provenance, date, title, and in-
terpretation, the result of extensive new art histori-
cal research as well as technical investigations in the
gallery’s conservation and scientific research labora-
tories, will make this volume the most compre-
hensive and up-to-date source of information on the
National Gallery’s collection of Italian baroque
paintings.

Portions of this essay were adapted from Edgar Peters
Bowron, “The Kress Brothers and Their ‘Bucolic Pic-
tures’: The Creation of an Italian Baroque Collection,” in
A Gift to America: Masterpieces of European Paint-
ing from the Samuel H. Kress Collection [exh. cat.
North Carolina Museum of Art, Raleigh] (New York,
1994). Published with the kind permission of Harry N.
Abrams, Inc.
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XVI

NOTES TO THE READER

Entries in the volume are arranged alphabetically by
artist. For each artist, there is a short biography and
bibliography, followed by individual entries on
paintings arranged according to date. Paintings as-
signed to an artist’s workshop, to followers, and to
school are discussed after entries on an artist’s se-
curely attributed paintings. A list of changes of at-
tribution and of title is included at the end of the vol-
ume. In 1983 the National Gallery assigned new
accession numbers by year of acquisition; these are
followed by the old numbers in parentheses.

The following attribution terms have been used:

Attributed to: Probably by the named artist ac-
cording to available evidence, although some degree
of doubt exists.

Studio/Workshop of: Produced in the named
artist’s studio/workshop by assistants, possibly with
some participation of the named artist. It is impor-
tant that the named artist was responsible for the
creative concept and that the work was meant to
leave the studio as his.

Follower of: An unknown artist working specifical-
ly in the style of the named artist, who may or may
not have been trained by the named artist. Some
chronological continuity is implied.

After: A copy of any date.

School: Indicates a geographical distinction, used
only when it is impossible to identify a specific artist,
his studio, or followers.

The following conventions are used for dates:

1603 Executed in 1603

C. 1603 Executed sometime around 1603

1603-1614 Begun in 1603, finished in 1614

1603/1614 Executed sometime between
1603 and 1614

Executed sometime around the
period 1603-1614

C. 1603/1614

Dimensions are given in centimeters, height preced-
ing width, followed by dimensions in inches in
parentheses.

The Technical Notes summarize the contents of
the examination reports prepared by members of
the Gallery’s conservation department for the Sys-
tematic Catalogue. In writing the Technical Notes,

NOTES TO THE READER

the authors collaborated closely with the conserva-
tors responsible for preparing the reports, and they
studied all the paintings jointly with the conserva-
tors. The notes describe the condition of the paint-
ings as of February 1994.

Each painting was unframed and examined in
visible light, front and back. The paintings were
examined with a stereomicroscope and under ultra-
violet light. X-radiographs were taken to answer
specific questions about the painting’s construction
or condition; for example when pentimenti suggest-
ed reworking of the original composition. All of the
paintings were examined with infrared reflectogra-
phy to reveal underdrawing and compositional
changes. When useful information was discovered,
reflectograms were prepared, although only those
considered essential to the interpretation of the
work are discussed in the Technical Notes. In re-
sponse to specific questions about technique, the Sci-
entific Research Department analyzed all of the
paintings (for a description of the analytical meth-
ods, see below).

Most of the paintings in this volume are on coarse
or medium-weight, plain-weave fabric supports,
with a few of the paintings on finely woven fabrics
(both Longhis and Panini’s Interior of the Pantheon),
and a few others on twill-weave fabrics (the Lodovi-
co Carracci; Crespi’s Tarquin and Lucretia; all three
Guercinos; the Ribera; the Tinelli; and the original
support of Gentileschi’s Lute Player, with a plain-
weave piece added later during lining). The largest
paintings (the Guardis, Tiepolo’s Queen Zenobia Ad-
dressing Her Soldiers, and the Tinelli) and several of
the smaller paintings are on fabric supports that
were pieced together prior to the ground applica-
tion. All are presumed to be hemp or linen (fiber
analysis has not been carried out), though the con-
ventional term “canvas” is used in the heading. Four
paintings are on wooden panel (Cesari’s Martyr-
dom of Saint Margaret, both Fettis, and the Follower
of Guardi’s Rialto Bridge, Venice), and one is on a
copper support (Crespi’s Cupids Disarming Sleeping
Nymphs). Michael Palmer of the Scientific Research
department analyzed the wood type of the panel
paintings in this catalogue.



The ground for the paintings in this volume is gen-
erally a reddish brown layer (twenty paintings), or a
reddish brown imprimatura toning a white (seven
paintings) or a red (two paintings) ground layer.
However, there are variations in color from white (ten
paintings) to gray (two paintings) to a yellowish
brown (eleven paintings) to a pinkish brown (five
paintings), and seven paintings have double-layered
grounds consisting, in most instances, of a dark layer
beneath a lighter one. Generally the ground layer is
smooth, but the appearance in x-radiographs sug-
gests that a stiff-bristled brush or a palette knife was
used to apply the ground in several of these paintings.

The conditions of the paintings vary. The treat-
ment records are available in the National Gallery
conservation files. The dates of conservation treat-
ments when known are cited here. The presence of
alining canvas is assumed unless noted. At times the
files record that the painting was “relined” rather
than lined. The Technical Notes repeat the phrases
as found in the records, without determining
whether this means a first or a later lining, since this
phrase is probably a casual use of the term, without
intending to indicate that an earlier lining was re-
moved during the treatment. Unless specifically not-
ed in the Technical Notes, the tacking margins of the
original support can be assumed to have been re-
moved. Cusping along the trimmed fabric edges is
taken as a strong indication that the artist’s original
dimensions have been retained. In treatments car-
ried out prior to acquisition, original stretchers or
strainers were routinely removed and discarded dur-
ing treatment. With the exception of Cesari’s Mar-
tyrdom of Saint Margaret, the panel paintings were
cradled. For these paintings, the process included
thinning of the original panel, and marouflagingit to
a backing board. All of the conservation treatments
included removal of discolored varnish layers and
old inpainting. Damages, such as tears or paint loss-
es, should be assumed to have been repaired and re-
touched. All significant areas of inpainting are dis-
cussed in the Technical Notes. The varnishes are all
later replacements and impart no information about
the artist’s choice of finish.

Description of Equipment Used

X-radiography: X-radiography was carried out
with equipment consisting of a Eureka Emerald 125

MT tube, a Continental o-110 kV control panel, and
a Duocon M collimator. Kodak X-OMAT film was
used. The x-radiograph composites were prepared
with photographs developed from the film and as-
sembled into a mosaic. The composite of the Tiepo-
lo Bacchus and Ariadne x-radiographs was prepared
by scanning 35 mm slides of the film into a Macin-
tosh Quadra desktop computer and assembling with
Adobe Photoshop.

Infrared examination: A vidicon camera was used
for the infrared examination, which consisted of a
Hamamatsu C/1000-03 camera fitted with either an
N2606-10 or N214 lead sulphide tube and a Nikon
ssmm macro lens with a Kodak Wratten filter, a
C/1000-03 camera controller and a Tektronics 634
monitor.

Air-path x-ray fluorescence spectroscopy (XRF): Air-
path x-ray fluorescence spectroscopy, a nondestruc-
tive analytical technique, was carried out using a
Kevex 0750A spectrophotometer equipped with a
barium chloride target and a Si(Li) detector. The an-
ode voltage was 60kV.

Optical microscopy: Small paint samples (c. 0.25
mm) were removed using a scalpel and mounted in
polyester-type resin blocks. The samples were pol-
ished with silicon carbide papers and examined us-
ing optical microscopy. The samples were pho-
tographed using ultropak lenses on a Leitz orthoplan
microscope.

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM): Small sam-
ples were examined with a JEOL 6300 scanning elec-
tron microscope.

Energy dispersive spectrometry (EDS): The samples
were examined with energy dispersive spectrometry
using a Link eXII analysis system with the Super
ATW Si(Li) detector.

X-ray diffraction (XRD): The Philips x-ray genera-
tor XRG 3100 was used with a tube with a copper an-
ode and nickel filter. The paint sample was mount-
ed in a glass fiber in a Gandolfi camera. Data were
collected on film and line spacings and intensities
were estimated using a calibrated rule.

Provenance information has been stated as con-
cisely as possible. Dealers’ names are given in paren-
theses to distinguish them from collectors. A semi-
colon indicates that the work passed directly from
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one owner to the next. A period indicates either that
we have been unable to establish whether it did so or
that there is a break in the chain of ownership. The
year in which a painting entered the National
Gallery is recorded in the accession number. We
checked provenance information from original
sources in nearly all cases, and we have been able to
modify existing knowledge of the provenance of sev-
eral works. Endnotes indicate sources not obvious
from context and provide additional information
needed to supplement accounts of ownership.

The exhibition history is complete as far as is
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known. Information has been checked from the
original catalogues of nearly all relevant exhibitions.
In the main text of the entries, related works have
been discussed and are illustrated wherever relevant.
Information that is not essential to the interpreta-
tion of the Gallery’s paintings is kept to a minimum.
All early references are given, even if they are triv-
ial in nature. Otherwise, only the principal literature
is included. Sales and exhibition catalogues cited in
the provenance and exhibition sections are not re-
peated in the References list. References and exhibi-
tion histories are complete as of February 1994.
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Giuseppe Angeli
1712 — 1798

GIUSEPPE ANGELI was born in Venice and en-
tered the shop of Giovanni Battista Piazzetta
(q.v.) at an unknown date, probably before he was
twenty years old. By 1741 he was officially registered
as an independent painter, although he remained in
Piazzetta’s workshop and eventually became its di-
rector. Of all the painters employed by Piazzetta,
Angeli was the most adept at imitating the master’s
style. He soon succeeded, however, in cultivating his
own circle of influential patrons in Venice and its
mainland territories. He is not known to have left
the city for study or work.

Early in his career Angeli produced works of all
the types turned out by Piazzetta’s shop, including
genre paintings, half-length devotional images, dec-
orative cycles, and the large religious paintings that
would be the focus of his career. Although his style
derived primarily from his teacher’s late manner, he
was receptive to other contemporary developments,
particularly the refined elegance and lighter palettes
of Giovanni Battista Tiepolo (q.v.) and Jacopo
Amigoni (1682-1752). His earliest works, of the 1730s
and 1740s, are the most indebted to Piazzetta, yet they
anticipate his later style. In these works he retained
Piazzetta’s restricted, vaguely defined space, but with
more simplified, symmetrical compositions in which
he isolated heavy, blocklike figures. These figures de-
rive principally from Piazzetta, but often recall
Amigoni. Angeli’s palette, too, initially developed
from the mature Piazzetta’s careful blend of warm,
primarily brown, tones accented with cooler hues,
but he later came to prefer a lighter, more silver
tonality which avoided the reddish cast of his mas-
ter’s paintings.

In the only extended consideration of Angeli’s ca-
reer to date, Mollenhauer Hanstein has described his
evolving, somewhat uneven style of the 1750s and
1760s as influenced by the neoclassical manner of
such painters as Pier Antonio Novelli (1729-1804) and
the new Enlightenment ideals among the Venetian
ecclesiastics, who were his chief patrons. Angeli’s al-
tarpieces of this period tend to increased simplicity
and clarity of outline. Their pastel-like finish, derived
from Amigoni, is quite unlike Angeli’s earlier, more
vibrant paint surfaces. As he strove for a more
straightforward presentation of subject, his religious

paintings assumed an almost genrelike immediacy,
the figures becoming less monumental. In many in-
stances he drew directly upon fifteenth-century
models, often appropriating their flat gold back-
grounds or specific architectural details. These he
used to give concrete definition to a space no longer
determined solely by Piazzetta’s chiaroscuro effects,
as in his own early works. His last church commis-
sions of the 1770s, however, return to his first style.

In addition to large altarpieces, Angeli also exe-
cuted decorative commissions in palaces and villas,
where he was less innovative, simply reworking
earlier treatments of historical and mythological
scenes. For the Scuola di San Rocco he executed a
number of ceiling paintings, restored works by Ja-
copo Tintoretto (1518-1594), and even repainted un-
restorable compositions by Tintoretto and Porde-
none (1483/1484-1539). In the 1770s he returned to
painting small devotional images and portraits of
his influential patrons, following the conventions of
official portraiture as practiced by Alessandro
Longhi (1733-1813).

Elected drawing master in 1756, Angeli was a
leading member of the Venetian Academy until the
later 1770s. In 1774 he was awarded a medal of hon-
or from the Venetian government for his accom-
plishments in religious painting. Thereafter, howev-
er, demand for his art declined as a result of the
religious and social transformations that preceded
the fall of the Venetian Republic in 1797. He left no
successful pupils and had no influence on the pro-
foundly different course of Venetian art in the nine-
teenth century.
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1952.5.70 (1149)
Elijah Taken Up in a Chariot of Fire

C. 1740/1755
Oil on canvas, 174.6 X 264.8 (68 */+x 104 /1)
Samuel H. Kress Collection

Technical Notes: The support is a rather coarse, plain-
weave fabric with prominent nubby threads. It was pre-
pared with a warm, pinkish tan ground, over which the
opaque paint layer was freely applied with low to moderate
impasto. There is little glazing or complex layering. X-radi-
ographs show slight contour modification in the foreleg of
the front horse, and reveal that Elijah’s robe extends under
the wheel. The reserve left in the flames for the wheel, how-
ever, suggests that only the section over the robe was paint-
ed as an afterthought, with an extension of the robe beyond
the rim.

The corners of the support were once curved and have
been filled with crudely painted strips of fabric to provide
the present rectangular format. Cusping is evident along all
the edges of the original support. The painting has numer-
ous tears in the background: the most extensive are in an
area of about 42 x 10 cm at the bottom of the wheel, with
more tears around Elijah’s right hand. Abrasion, especially
in the background, has been heavily inpainted; the inpaint-
ing is slightly discolored. The present varnish is moderate-
ly yellowed. Discolored varnish was removed and the in-
painting restored in 1948 by Mario Modestini.

Provenance: San Giorgio in Alga, Venice, until 1806 or
1807." Pivan collection, Venice, by 1934.% (Count Alessandro
Contini-Bonacossi, Florence); purchased 1950 by the
Samuel H. Kress Foundation, New York.3

EvIDENCE that Elijah Taken Up in a Chariot of Fire is
the work of Giuseppe Angeli was assembled only
recently. The painting was first published by Palluc-
chini in 1934 with an attribution to Francesco Po-
lazzo (1683-1753), a student of Giovanni Battista Pi-
azzetta.* Suida’s 1951 attribution to Piazzetta was
accepted by Pallucchini in his 1956 monographs on
the artist and also by later scholars, who continued
to suggest at least the assistance of Polazzo.®
Pigler’s suggestion of 1956 that the painting might
be one of the two Elijahs by Angeli recorded in An-
ton Maria Zanetti’s 1771 guide to Venice appears to
have gone unnoticed.” In 1981 Jones observed that
the painting was identical in size, shape, and style to
Angeli’s Madonna Presenting the Habit to Saint Simon
Stock, now in the church of the Maddalena in
Venice, and assumed that the pair had been painted
for that church.® Thirty years ecarlier, however, Pig-
natti had noted an inscription on the back of the
Maddalena canvas reading “San Giorgio in Alga”
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and identified it as the painting of the same subject
recorded by Zanetti in the church of San Giorgio in
Alga.? In 1982 Mollenhauer Hanstein also noted the
similarities between the two paintings and, turning
to Zanetti’s text, found that Angeli had, in fact, ex-
ecuted a pair of paintings for San Giorgio in Alga:
the Maddalena Saint Simon Stock and the Washing-
ton Elijah Taken Up in a Chariot of Fire. She suggest-
ed that the two had hung high on the walls of the
choir of this chuch,’ which was destroyed early in
the nineteenth century.” This identification is now
unanimously accepted.

Scholars do not concur on the dating, however,
and have proposed a broad range of dates, from 1740
to 1755, for the San Giorgio pair. The dating of paint-
ings from this period of Angeli’s career is compli-
cated by the lack of documented works and by con-
siderable variation in his style. Furthermore, from
1741 until Piazzetta’s death in 1754, Angeli was also
active as the director of Piazzetta’s shop. Mariuz ar-
gued that the high quality of the San Giorgio paint-
ings indicated the direct intervention of the master,
and thus a date of 1745-1750."* Knox, on the other
hand, suggested a date of 1750-1755 based on their
high level of accomplishment as compared to dated
works from the 1740s."3 Mollenhauer Hanstein
found their diagonal compositions more baroque
than that of the Virgin with Saints Felix of Cantalice
and Margaret of Cortona in Santo Spirito, Cortona,
documented to 1744-1745, and thus proposed an ear-
lier date of 1740-1743.™

A date around 1745 seems most plausible, but can-
not be firmly established without specific documen-
tation or a more secure chronology of Angeli’s oeu-
vre. As Pignatti observed, the Virgin in the Saint
Simon Stock is the same figure as in the Cortona al-
tarpiece, and the Saint Simon is similar in pose to the
Saint Felix in the same painting.’s Like the figures in
the Elijah, these are derived from Piazzetta but are
conceived in Angeli’s own manner. Likewise, the
smooth, fluid brushwork and light tonality are also
characteristic of Angeli’s developing style,’® while
the restricted palette and the chiaroscuro effects de-
rive from Piazzetta’s works of the late 1730s and
1740s. These strong echoes of the master’s style
might seem to confirm the date suggested by com-
parison with the Cortona altarpiece of 1744-1745, yet
Angeli’s style of the 1750s is not so consistently inde-
pendent as to rule out the possibility that he re-
turned, as on other occasions, to an earlier, more Pi-
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azzettesque manner, perhaps at the request of the
patron.'” A date later than 1755 is quite unlikely,
however, as Angeli’s style became increasingly inde-
pendent after Piazzetta’s death, with clearer con-
tours, a still lighter, more varied palette, and less
monumental figures."

In the eighteenth century the church and
monastery of San Giorgio in Alga belonged to the
Discalced Carmelites, who reconstructed it follow-
ing a devastating fire in 1716.'9 The Carmelites con-
sidered the prophet Elijah to be the founder of their
Order, and scenes from his life were often depicted
in their churches. His ascension in the chariot of fire,
taken from 2 Kings 2: 1-12, was the most popular of
these scenes.?* Knowing that he was about to be
called to heaven, the prophet Elijah went across the
Jordan with his disciple Elisha. As they spoke, a char-
iot and horses of fire appeared and swept Elijah up
to heaven in a fiery whirlwind, whereupon he cast
down his cloak to Elisha, who later used it to part the
waters of the Jordan. Combination of this subject
with that of the Madonna presenting the Carmelite
habit to Saint Simon was also not unusual at that
time. The original contract of 1740 for the ceiling of
the Sala Capitolare in the Scuola Grande dei Carmi-
ni, Venice, called for Giovanni Battista Tiepolo to in-
clude the figures of Elijah and Elisha in a depiction
of the presentation of the habit to Saint Simon Stock.
The Virgin’s presentation of the habit to Saint Simon
parallels Elijah’s giving of his mantle to Elisha, and
together the two subjects show visible signs of the
holy spirit cast upon the Carmelites.*'

In his Washington Elijah, Angeli followed the tra-
ditional depiction of the scene with Elijah borne
aloft in a blaze of fire from which emerge a pair of
horses and part of the chariot, in this case one wheel.
Angeli departed from the more common iconogra-
phy in that Elijah is not shown casting his mantle
down to Elisha, but rather grasping it as if about to
remove it. Angeli also reduced the landscape to a
rocky hillock, with merely a strip of blue at the low-
er right to indicate the river Jordan. The resulting
composition is typical of Angeli’s early style, with
monumenta] figures in the manner of Piazzetta iso-
lated within an indeterminate space defined princi-
pally by light effects. The composition may owe
something to a painting in the Ateneum, Helsinki,
now attributed to the workshop of Palma Giovane,
in which a similar figure of Elisha, arms out-
stretched, looms in the left foreground.** Another
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earlier Venetian model may have been Tintoretto’s
small grisaille on the ceiling of the Sala Grande of
the Scuola di San Rocco in Venice, which, however, is
known only through Angeli’s copy of 1778.%3
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Notes

1. Zanetti 1771, 477. The church and monastery were
suppressed in 1806 and the works of art removed in 1807:
Z0rz1 1972, 2: 405—406.

2. According to Pallucchini 1934, 341.

. According to Kress 1957, 148.

. Pallucchini 1934, 341.

. Kress 1951, 148; Pallucchini 1956, 38.

. Shapley 1973, 138, and 1979, 1: 366, found the paint-
ing “uninspired and academic with exaggerated gestures
and flat brushwork suggesting especially the work of Polaz-
20.” She attributed it to “Piazzetta and Assistants” and not-
ed the doubts of Fredericksen and Zeri 1972, 647 (as Pi-
azzetta or Polazzo), and Zeri’s later oral rejection of the
attribution to Piazzetta.

7. Pigler 1956, 1: 177; Zanetti 1771, 477. The second Eli-
jah, originally in San Matteo di Rialto, was sent to Poland in
1852 (Zorzi 1972, 2: 374). A note in the Kress files, NGA,
records that in 1963 James Byam Shaw tentatively suggested
an attribution to Giuseppe Angeli. Pigler 1974, 1: 189, gave
the painting back to Polazzo with no explanation.

8. 174 X 265 cm; Jones, “Piazzetta,” 1981, I: 190-191; 2!
238-240. See also Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 128, no. 70,
fig. 12.

9. Pignatti 1949, 169-170, fig. 176.

10. Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 148, no. 128, and 128,
no. 7o. This history is now also summarized in Knox 1992,
215.

I11. Z0rzi 1972, 2: 406.

12. Mariuz and Pallucchini 1982, 129, no. A46; Palluc-
chini 1983, 36, revised this to c. 1750.

13. Knox, NGA files, 1983, 2-3, citing the Saint Hierony-
mus Miani with Orphans before the Crucifix in the Ospedalet-
to, Venice, documented to 1748 (Mollenhauer Hanstein
1982, 123-124, N0. 64, fig. 29).

14. Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 36-37, 128-129, and
96-97, no. 12, fig. 24.

15. Pignatti 1949, 169. Writing without the benefit of
Mollenhauer Hanstein’s catalogue raisonné, Pignatti dated
both the Saint Simon Stock and the Cortona altarpiece to the
1760S.

16. Jones, “Piazzetta,” 1981, 2: 238, called the smooth,
opaque brushwork characteristic of Angeli. The light blue
and apricot tints of the Elijah are not so far from Piazzetta’s
late palette as she suggested; Piazzetta’s Suganna at the Well
of c. 1736 in the Brera, Milan, has much the same palette,
but appears darker (comparison suggested by Mitchell Mer-
ling). Assuming that the painting was executed for the
Maddalena, Jones dated the Elijah to the 1760s.

17. Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 46, remarked on the
unevenness of Angeli’s stylistic development in the early
1750s. None of the documented works from the years
1750-1755 offers a useful comparison with the San Giorgio
paintings. Angeli is known to have received independent
commissions from Piazzetta’s patrons.
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18. For Angeli’s style of the 1750s and 1760s, see biogra-
phy and Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 44-82.

19. Z0rzi 1972, 2: 405—406.

20. On the iconography of Elijah see Francesco Negri
Arnoldi, s.v. “Elia,” in BiblSS 4: 1037-1038; Pigler 1974, 1:
179-181, lists many examples. An eighteenth-century
Venetian example, albeit different in composition, is the
ceiling fresco by Francesco Fontebasso of 1734 in the church
of the Gesuiti: Magrini 1988, 195, no. 181, fig. 7.

21. Barcham 1989, 154-155. In the original program for
the Sala Capitolare, Barcham saw the habit, or scapular, as
“standing for the spirit that descended from Elijah, to El-
isha, and then on to the sons of Carmel.”

22. The smaller, more distant chariot faces the other di-
rection and the landscape is much more defined. Ivanoff
and Zampetti 1980, 599, no. 474; reproduced in Berenson
1980, pl. 98. The comparison was made by Shapley 1973, 138,
and 1979, 1: 366.

23. The documents described the eight thomboid fields,
in which Tintoretto’s tempera grisailles had deteriorated be-
yondrepair, as “rifattidi novo. .. cavati dallivecchi” by Angeli.
The San Rocco restorations are discussed in Rossi 1977, 265.
Mollenhauer Hanstein 1982, 77, fig. 103, and Mariuz and
Pallucchini 1982, 129, assumed that Angeli copied his own
earlier composition in executing the grisaille at San Rocco.

Bernardo Bellotto

1722 — 1780

ERNARDO BELLOTTO is now believed to have

been born in Venice on 20 May 1722 to Fiorenza
Domenica Canal and Lorenzo Bellotto.” His moth-
er was the eldest of the three sisters of the Venetian
vedutista Antonio Canaletto (q.v.), and around 1735
Bellotto entered his uncle’s studio to train as a view
painter. During his apprenticeship, which lasted un-
til the early 1740s, he so thoroughly assimilated
Canaletto’s methods and style—a phenomenon re-
marked upon by contemporaries—that the problem
of attributing works from this period to one painter
or the other continues to the present day.

As early as 1738 Bellotto was enrolled in the reg-
ister of the Fraglia dei Pittori, the Venetian painters’
guild, which suggests that by then he had developed
into an independent painter. By 1740 he was capable
of faultless perspective drawing, and he had pro-
duced several independent oil paintings of Venetian
scenes. In 1740-1741 Bellotto accompanied his uncle
on a visit to the neighboring mainland along the
Brenta to Padua, and on this trip he attained his ma-
jority as an artist. For several months in 1742 Bellot-
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to traveled in central Italy visiting Florence, Lucca,
and Rome. The paintings produced during this time
exhibit a high standard of execution, skillful han-
dling, and precise linear framework, and the distrib-
ution of light, shade, and color anticipate his distinc-
tive mature style and eventual divergence from the
manner of Canaletto.

Bellotto probably returned to Venice before the
end of 1742; he was certainly there in 1743. From 1744
onward, before his departure for Dresden in the
summer of 1747, he spent months at a time in Lom-
bardy, Piedmont, and Verona, where he executed
many paintings of new subjects. During this period
he began to take an interest in the surroundings of
towns and in landscape, which had previously played
a minor role in his work. The most important of
Bellotto’s Italian works are considered to be two
views of the village of Gazzada, near Varese (Brera,
Milan), which in their contrast of light and shade,
intense color, crystalline atmosphere, and evident
feeling for rural landscape summarize the artist’s
early maturity. In 1745 Bellotto executed two views
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of Turin for Charles Emmanuel I1I, king of Sardinia
and duke of Savoy. These were his first royal com-
missions, and he signed them with his given name
and surname, as well as the byname “Il Canaletto,”
no doubt to draw attention to his relationship with
his celebrated uncle.

Bellotto’s views of Milan, Turin, and Verona are
the products of a mature style of view painting, but
he also painted a number of vedute ideate and capric-
cios in his last Italian years, which reflect the same
high quality and technical standards as his realistic
views of the period. In July 1747, in response to a
summons by the court of Dresden, he left Venice
forever. From the moment of his arrival until the
outbreak of the Seven Years” War in 1756, Bellotto
was engaged in the service of Augustus 111, king of
Poland and elector of Saxony, and of his powerful
prime minister, Count Heinrich von Brithl. In 1748
the title of court painter was officially conferred on
the artist, and his annual salary was the highest ever
paid by Augustus III to a painter. Between 1747 and
the first months of 1753, Bellotto painted fourteen
large panoramic views of Dresden; between 1753 and
1756, eleven views of the village of Pirna; and be-
tween 1756 and 1758, five views of the fortress of
Konigstein. These thirty paintings are among the
painter’s most significant works. In these paintings
Bellotto developed a highly original style impossible
to confuse with that of his uncle: darker in tonality
and painted with a much thicker impasto, the figures
with which they are animated are far more individ-
ualized than in Canaletto’s work. They conclude the
stage of development initiated by the Italian views,
and in their panoramic breadth, convincing depic-
tions of deep space, and contrasts of shadow and
sunlight stand among the greatest achievements of
view painting in the eighteenth century.

A new phase was ushered in with Bellotto’s move
to Vienna in the winter of 1758-1759, where he re-
mained until early in 1761. The thirteen large paint-
ings recording the principal attractions of Vienna,
painted for Empress Maria Theresa and emphasiz-
ing her palaces and those constructed at her behest,
constitute his second great series devoted to the por-
trayal of a single city and its immediate environ-
ment. Following his departure from Vienna in early
1761, Bellotto visited the court of Elector Maximil-
ian III Joseph of Bavaria in Munich before returning
to Dresden shortly before the end of the year.

Bellotto’s second period of residence in Dresden,
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1761-1766, was marked by financial difficulties
caused by the destruction of his home and the con-
tents of his studio in Pirna during the Prussian bom-
bardment of the city in July 1760, the deaths of Au-
gustus III and Count Briihl within a few months of
each other in 1763, and the Saxon court’s new pref-
erence for native artists. To eke out a living, Bellotto
taught perspective drawing at the Dresden Academy
of Fine Arts, established in 1764, and he made and
sold prints. He also produced replicas of his earlier
views of Pirna, Koningstein, Vienna, and Munich,
most of them in reduced formats. The high techni-
cal standard of some indicate that they were painted
entirely by his own hand; many others were com-
pleted with the assistance of members of his studio,
notably his son Lorenzo (1744-1770). Bellotto also
produced two unusual views of war-torn Dresden,
and large numbers of capriccios and vedute ideate.
In December 1766, Bellotto and his son left Dres-
den with the intention of traveling to Saint Peters-
burg and working for the empress of Russia, Cather-
ine II. He arrived in Warsaw probably before the end
of January 1767 and was immediately offered em-
ployment at the court of the last king of Poland,
Stanislaus IT August Poniatowski. He was appointed
court painter in 1768 and spent the last fourteen
years of his life working for the king in relative com-
fort and security. His most important work from
this period is a series of twenty-six vi